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About Us

Christopher K. Schuele is an associate in Reinhart's Labor and Employment Practice Group.  

Christopher has assisted clients litigate various employment-related disputes and protest 
government contract awards.  Christopher has also assisted employers develop and implement 
affirmative action plans as well as equal employment opportunity and anti-discrimination policies. 

Philip G. Bail is a retired U.S. Air Force Contracting Officer and the owner of Phil Bail & Associates.  
Phil has worked for more than 40 years in both the aerospace and hazardous waste disposal industries 
as Purchasing Manager, Manager of Major Subcontracts, Director of Government Contract 
Administration, and Small Business Liaison Officer.  As a warranted Contracting Officer in the U.S. Air 
Force, Phil negotiated against major aerospace companies, construction contractors and service 
providers.  While working in the private sector, Phil has successfully challenged government 
solicitations and statements of work and protested government contract awards.
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Introduction 

• Government procurement spending exceeds $400 billion annually

• There are tremendous advantages to doing business with the 
government (e.g., timely payment, standardized procedures)

• However, contracting with the government may also subject the 
contractor to a number of complicated and costly equal 
employment opportunity ("EEO") and affirmative action obligations
(see e.g., OFCCP v. Google, Inc., No. 2017-OFC-4)
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Doing Business with the Government
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Eligibility

• Before contracting with the government, all prospective contractors must 
register in the System for Award Management (“SAM”) database—
www.sam.gov—and update their profile annually  

� Register under company’s Data Universal Numbering System (“DUNS”) number

� List the North American Industry Classification System (“NAICS”) codes 
applicable to the type of work the company performs

� Provide background information (e.g., number of employees, bank account)

� Complete various representations and certifications 
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Eligibility (cont.)

• Contracts may only be awarded to “responsive” and “responsible” 
contractors as determined by a government Contracting Officer:

� Ability to perform contract requirements (e.g., financial capabilities, 
experience, managerial and technical abilities)

� Capacity to satisfy contract’s performance requirements in light of 
expierence and other commitments

� Standing as a good corporate citizen

� Past performance record
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Government Set-Asides

• The Small Business Act requires federal agencies to help level the 
playing field for small businesses through “small business set-
asides”

� Section 8(a) business development

� Historically underutilized business zone (“HUBZone”)

� Women-owned small business

� Service-disabled veteran-owner

• A qualifying small business can form a joint venture with another 
small business (or a large business through the All Small Mentor-
Protégé Program) to compete for HUBZone, women-owned and 
veteran-owned business set-asides



© 2018 All Rights Reserved
Reinhart Boerner Van Deuren s.c.9

Formation and Administration of Government Contracts

• Governed by the Federal Acquisition Regulations (“FAR”) and over 
20 agency FAR supplements (e.g., Department of Defense FAR 
Supplement (“DFARS”)

• Types of procurement 

• Commercial item acquisitions (FAR Part 12)

• Simplified acquisition procedures (FAR Part 13)

• Sealed bids (FAR Part 14)

• Negotiated procurements (FAR Part 15)

• Federal supply schedules (“FSS”) (FAR Subpart 8.4)
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Formation and Administration of Government Contracts (cont.) 

• Types of contracts

� Fixed price contract 

• Relevant procurement:  commercial item acquisitions; simplified 
acquisitions; sealed bidding; and FSS

• Contractor and government agree on a price at the outset and 
contractor must deliver goods or perform services for that fixed 
price, absent any government-approved changes 

� Cost reimbursement contract

• Relevant procurement:  negotiated procurement

• Government agrees to pay contractor's allowable costs and specified 
profit during contract performance up to a certain amount
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Formation and Administration of Government Contracts (cont.)

• A note on government subcontracts (FAR Part 44) 

� Hybrid of government and commercial contracts

• Some clauses in the prime contract must “flow down” to the 
subcontract to avoid breaching the prime contract

• However, other portions of subcontracts are negotiable 
(subcontractors lack privity of contract with government)

� Terms of the subcontract will often dictate

• Subcontractors should always negotiate terms that reduce 
potential liability to the prime contractor (e.g., changes, 
termination, indemnification, and warranty clauses) 

• Contracting officers usually will not intervene in disputes between 
prime contractors and subcontractors
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Protesting Government Contract Awards

• Interested parties may challenge the award or proposed award of a 
contract or challenge the terms of a solicitation

• Government Accountability Office (“GAO”)

� Protest must be filed within 10 calendar days of when the protester 
knows or should have known of the basis for the protest

� Automatic stay of contract award/performance during protest

� GAO must issue a decision within 100 calendar days

� If GAO sustains the protest, it will recommend that the procuring 
agency address the violation through appropriate corrective action

• Protester may also file a “second bite at the apple” protest with the Court 
of Federal Claims—review of agency decision, not GAO decision
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Equal Employment Opportunity and Affirmative 
Action Obligations for Government Contractors
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Legal Requirements and Administrative Structure 

• Government requires certain contractors to comply with various equal 
employment opportunity and affirmative action requirements 

� Contractors may not budget for compliance costs in their bids

• These requirements are enforced by the Department of Labor's Office 
of Federal Contract Compliance Programs (“OFCCP”) (i.e., not the 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”)

� Executive Order 11246, as amended—minorities and women

� Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973—individuals with 
disabilities (“IWD”)

� Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act ("VEVRAA")—
protected veterans
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OFCCP Coverage

• Which contractors must comply with these obligations?

� Prime contractors with an executive agency

� Covered subcontractors

• Provide goods or services that are "necessary" to fulfill a covered 
prime contract or subcontract 

• Undertakes/assumes any portion of a prime contractor’s obligation

� Caution: Grant recipients are not subject to the same EEO obligations

• Healthcare providers are not covered contractors if their only 
relationship with the government is as a participating provider 
under Medicare Parts A and B and Medicaid  
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OFCCP Coverage
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Basic Threshold Requirements 

• Don’t discriminate! (E.O. 11246 protects more classes than Title VII)

• Ensure proper posting of EEO notices in the workplace

• Include EEO tagline in employment advertising 

• Include EEO clause in all subcontracts

• Two-year recordkeeping retention requirement (unless fewer than 150 
employees)

• Annual reporting requirements: 

� Form EEO-1 (a contract of $10,000 or more and 50 employees)

� Form VETS-4212 (a contract of $150,000 or more)
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Basic Threshold Requirements (cont.) 

• Pre-offer invitation to self-identify

• Reasonable accommodation for electronic/online applicants 

• Outreach and recruitment for IWDs and protected veterans 

• “List” all available jobs with local Employment Service Delivery System 
(e.g., Job Center of Wisconsin) 

• Permit OFCCP to access books and records during compliance investigation
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AAP Threshold Requirements 

• What is an AAP?  

� A proactive tool used to identify and address areas of inequity or unfairness in a 
covered contractor’s employment practices, as compared to the general 
representation of individuals with similar skills in the relevant labor market

� Road map for management to correct problems and support recruitment goals

� First line of defense against an OFCCP audit

• Affirmative action is not equal employment opportunity

� EEO refers to fairness and equality of treatment for specific, designated protected 
classes as defined by law

� Affirmative action requires contractors to proactively recruit, hire, train and 
promote women, minorities, IWDs and protected veterans to ensure that all 
individuals have equal opportunities in employment
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AAP Threshold Requirements (cont.)  

• What are the components of an EO 11246 AAP?

� Organizational profile

� Workforce analysis

� Job group analysis

� Availability analysis (internal and external)

� Comparison of incumbency versus availability

� Placement goals

� Analyses of recruitment, personnel activity and compensation practices

� Action-oriented programs
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AAP Threshold Requirements (cont.) 

• What are the components of a Section 503/VEVRAA AAP?

� Data collection analyses regarding the number of applicants who self-identify 
or who are otherwise known to be a protected veteran or IWD and the number 
of protected veterans and IWD hired

� Adoption of established utilization goals for each job group

• 6.4% for protected veterans

• 7% for IWD

� Establishment of specific action-oriented programs to achieve utilization goal  
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Responding to an OFCCP Audit

• AAP is a contractor’s first line of defense against an OFCCP audit

• OFCCP conducts random audits announced by corporate scheduling 
announcement letter followed by a scheduling letter

� Contractor has 30 days from the date of the scheduling letter to submit 
its AAP to the OFCCP

• Before turning over an AAP to the OFCCP, contractors should:

� Immediately notify their corporate attorney

� Closely scrutinize every detail of your AAP 

� Conduct disparity and pay-equity analyses under attorney-client privilege

� Require all management officials to attend a refresher training
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Responding to an OFCCP Audit (cont.) 

• If OFCCP finds potential discrimination, it must issue a Predetermination 
Notice (“PDN”)

� Contractors have 15 days to rebut OFCCP’s initial finding

� All submissions will be reviewed by the Solicitor of Labor and then 
submitted to OFCCP’s national office for final decision

� Opportunity for Contractor to put its “best foot forward” to resolve an 
audit without any additional exposure 

• If OFCCP determines the contractor has engaged in unlawful 
discrimination, it may issue a Notice of Violation and seek monetary 
damages for the victims of discrimination (e.g., back pay)
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Enforcement by the OFCCP

• Contractor’s failure to comply with relevant EEO and AAP 
obligations may also result in severe penalties, including: 

� Suspension or cancellation of the covered contract

� Debarment of contractor from future procurement opportunities

� For material violations, OFCCP may refer case to the U.S. Department 
of Justice, which may bring suit to enforce the OFCCP regulations
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Questions?
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Sources of Information 

• www.farsite.hill.af.mil:  FARSite (Full text of FAR and agency supplements)

• www.gsa.gov/acquisition: U.S. General Services Administration

• www.gao.gov:  Government Accountability Office 

• www.wispro.org:  Wisconsin Procurement Institute

• www.ofccp.gov:  OFCCP Homepage

• www.dol.gov/ofccp/contractingofficers:  OFCCP Contracting Officer Corner

• www.reinhartlaw.com:  Reinhart Boerner Van Deuren, S.C.

• www.philbail.com:  Phil Bail & Associates



A Procurement Technical 

Assistance Center (PTAC)
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Celebrating 31 years of serving Wisconsin businesses! 

Assist businesses in creating, developing and growing 

their sales, revenue and jobs through Federal, state 

and local government contracts.
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WPI OFFICE LOCATIONSWPI OFFICE LOCATIONSWPI OFFICE LOCATIONSWPI OFFICE LOCATIONS
• MILWAUKEE – Technology Innovation Center

• MADISON –

• FEED Kitchens

• Dane County Latino Chamber of Commerce

• Wisconsin Manufacturing Extension Partnership (WMEP)

• Madison Area Technical College (MATC)

• CAMP DOUGLAS– Juneau County Economic Development 

Corporation (JCEDC)

• STEVENS POINT – IDEA Center

• APPLETON – Fox Valley Technical College 

• OSHKOSH –

• Fox Valley Technical College 

• Greater Oshkosh Economic Development Corporation

• EAU CLAIRE – Western Dairyland

• MENOMONIE – Dunn County Economic Development Corporation

Corporation

• LADYSMITH – Indianhead Community Action Agency

• RHINELANDER – Nicolet Area Technical College

November 12, 2018 30

www.wispro.org



SO WHAT DOES SO WHAT DOES SO WHAT DOES SO WHAT DOES WPIWPIWPIWPI REALLY DO…..REALLY DO…..REALLY DO…..REALLY DO…..

PROVIDES TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDES TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDES TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE PROVIDES TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE 

to CURRENT AND POTENTIAL GOVERNMENT to CURRENT AND POTENTIAL GOVERNMENT to CURRENT AND POTENTIAL GOVERNMENT to CURRENT AND POTENTIAL GOVERNMENT CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS 

• INDIVIDUAL COUNSELING – at our offices, at clients facility or via telephone / GoToMeeting
GoToMeeting

• SMALL GROUP TRAINING – workshops and webinars

• CONFERENCES to include one on one or Roundtable sessions

• LAST YEAR WPI provided training at over 100 events, provided services to over 1,400 companies.  
companies.  
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so let’s talk 

STRATEGY
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TO SUCCEED IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKETTO SUCCEED IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKETTO SUCCEED IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKETTO SUCCEED IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKET

•TAKES TIME – FIRST SUCCESS IS USUALLY AFTER 18 – 24 MONTHS OF SERIOUS EFFORT

•TAKES COMPANY RESOURCES

� YOUR TIME, EMPLOYEE TIME, RESOURCE / CONSULTANT TIME

�MONEY 

� RESOURCES / CONSULTANT TIME

� OUTREACH – NETWORKING

� EDUCATION – TRAINING

�IT IS A CHOICE – DO YOU INVEST IN ENTERING AND DEVELOPING THE GOVERNMENT MARKET OR ……..

SO DEVELOPING A STRATEGY IS CRITICAL TO YOUR SUCCESS IN THIS MARKETSO DEVELOPING A STRATEGY IS CRITICAL TO YOUR SUCCESS IN THIS MARKETSO DEVELOPING A STRATEGY IS CRITICAL TO YOUR SUCCESS IN THIS MARKETSO DEVELOPING A STRATEGY IS CRITICAL TO YOUR SUCCESS IN THIS MARKET
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THREE MOST IMPORTANT THINGSTHREE MOST IMPORTANT THINGSTHREE MOST IMPORTANT THINGSTHREE MOST IMPORTANT THINGS

�The MarketThe MarketThe MarketThe Market

Needs, priorities, problems – where do you fit

�Technical Knowledge Technical Knowledge Technical Knowledge Technical Knowledge 

The process  - how it works - regulations

�AccessAccessAccessAccess

Entry points, relationships, “who you know”
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THE MARKETTHE MARKETTHE MARKETTHE MARKET
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IS THERE AN OPPORTUNITY ???IS THERE AN OPPORTUNITY ???IS THERE AN OPPORTUNITY ???IS THERE AN OPPORTUNITY ???

•Does the Government buy what you sell

•Does the Government have a problem you can solve

•What are the Government’s priorities

•Do you have the capability and capacity to support a Government 
Requirement

•Do you have the Experience and Past Performance that the 
Government is requiring

•Are you a HIGH RISK or a LOW RISK

•Does a Government PRIME buy what you sell
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LOCATING FEDERAL AWARD HISTORYLOCATING FEDERAL AWARD HISTORYLOCATING FEDERAL AWARD HISTORYLOCATING FEDERAL AWARD HISTORY

Monday, November 12, 2018 37

https://www.usaspending.gov/

https://www.fpds.gov

REVIEW CURRENT FEDERAL OPPORTUNITIESREVIEW CURRENT FEDERAL OPPORTUNITIESREVIEW CURRENT FEDERAL OPPORTUNITIESREVIEW CURRENT FEDERAL OPPORTUNITIES
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REVIEW FEDERAL AGENCY FORECASTSREVIEW FEDERAL AGENCY FORECASTSREVIEW FEDERAL AGENCY FORECASTSREVIEW FEDERAL AGENCY FORECASTS

11/12/2018 39

REVIEW FEDERAL BUDGETS REVIEW FEDERAL BUDGETS REVIEW FEDERAL BUDGETS REVIEW FEDERAL BUDGETS ––––
AAAAGENCY GENCY GENCY GENCY / SEARCHES TO YOUR SPECIFIC AREA OF INTEREST/ SEARCHES TO YOUR SPECIFIC AREA OF INTEREST/ SEARCHES TO YOUR SPECIFIC AREA OF INTEREST/ SEARCHES TO YOUR SPECIFIC AREA OF INTEREST
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https://www.va.gov/bu

dget/products.asp



REVIEW STATE AGENCY SITESREVIEW STATE AGENCY SITESREVIEW STATE AGENCY SITESREVIEW STATE AGENCY SITES
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http://openbook.wi.gov/

https://vendornet.wi.gov/

VETERAN PREFERENCE IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKETVETERAN PREFERENCE IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKETVETERAN PREFERENCE IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKETVETERAN PREFERENCE IN THE GOVERNMENT MARKET

•FEDERAL

•Department of Veterans Affairs
• Veterans First / Verification

• Veteran and Service Disabled Veteran

•Other 
• Service Disabled Veteran

•STATE
•Service Disabled Veteran

•LOCAL 
•MMSD
•Other

•CORPORATE – VARIES
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READ AND SEARCHREAD AND SEARCHREAD AND SEARCHREAD AND SEARCH
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TECHNICAL KNOWLEDGETECHNICAL KNOWLEDGETECHNICAL KNOWLEDGETECHNICAL KNOWLEDGE
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REGISTER IN REGISTER IN REGISTER IN REGISTER IN WWW.SAM.GOVWWW.SAM.GOVWWW.SAM.GOVWWW.SAM.GOV
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COMPLETE THE DYNAMIC SMALL BUSINESS SEARCH INFORMATION COMPLETE THE DYNAMIC SMALL BUSINESS SEARCH INFORMATION COMPLETE THE DYNAMIC SMALL BUSINESS SEARCH INFORMATION COMPLETE THE DYNAMIC SMALL BUSINESS SEARCH INFORMATION ----
HTTP://DSBS.SBA.GOV/HTTP://DSBS.SBA.GOV/HTTP://DSBS.SBA.GOV/HTTP://DSBS.SBA.GOV/
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REGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTSREGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTSREGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTSREGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

•SMALL BUSINESS PROGRAMS
•Mentor Protégé / Joint Venture

•Small Business Subcontracting Plan

•SUBCONTRACTING
•Limitations in Subcontracting

•HOW THE GOVERNMENT BUYS
•Thresholds 

•Contract Types

•Communications with the Government
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REGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTSREGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTSREGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTSREGULATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS

•RESPONDING TO AN OPPORTUNITY

•GO / NO GO

•Types of Requirements

•Cost and Pricing

•Contractor Obligations

•OTHER

•Regulations

•Ethics

•Non Manufacturers Rule

•Contract Administration

•Invoicing and Payment

11/12/2018 48



ACCESSACCESSACCESSACCESS
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TARGETED MARKETING MATERIALSTARGETED MARKETING MATERIALSTARGETED MARKETING MATERIALSTARGETED MARKETING MATERIALS

•YOU WILL NEED AYOU WILL NEED AYOU WILL NEED AYOU WILL NEED A

•Business Card

•Capabilities Statement

•Website

•Pitch
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OFFICE OF SMALL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS UTILIZATION OFFICE OF SMALL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS UTILIZATION OFFICE OF SMALL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS UTILIZATION OFFICE OF SMALL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS UTILIZATION 
(OSDBU)(OSDBU)(OSDBU)(OSDBU)
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https://www.va.gov/osdbu/

https://business.defense.gov/

Small-Business/DoD-Small-

Business-Offices/

SMALL BUSINESS LIAISON OFFICERS (SBLO)SMALL BUSINESS LIAISON OFFICERS (SBLO)SMALL BUSINESS LIAISON OFFICERS (SBLO)SMALL BUSINESS LIAISON OFFICERS (SBLO)
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https://www.gsa.gov/small-business/find-and-

pursue-government-contracts/seek-

opportunities/subcontracting-directory-for-small-

businesses



FEDERAL GOVERNMENT FEDERAL GOVERNMENT FEDERAL GOVERNMENT FEDERAL GOVERNMENT –––– PRIMES (EXAMPLE)PRIMES (EXAMPLE)PRIMES (EXAMPLE)PRIMES (EXAMPLE)
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https://osn.oshkoshcorp.com/
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ORGANIZATIONSORGANIZATIONSORGANIZATIONSORGANIZATIONS
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http://www.ndia.org/

https://www.same.org/

https://www.ncmahq.org/

WISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIESWISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIESWISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIESWISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIES

U.S. Department of Agriculture U.S. Department of Agriculture U.S. Department of Agriculture U.S. Department of Agriculture ––––Colleen M. Colleen M. Colleen M. Colleen M. RettingerRettingerRettingerRettinger, Supervisory , Supervisory , Supervisory , Supervisory 

Contract SpecialistContract SpecialistContract SpecialistContract Specialist

Forest Products Laboratory  & Northern Research Station

One Gifford Pinchot Drive 

Madison, WI 53726-2398 

608-231-9285 creittinger@fs.fed.uscreittinger@fs.fed.uscreittinger@fs.fed.uscreittinger@fs.fed.us

U.S. Forest Service U.S. Forest Service U.S. Forest Service U.S. Forest Service –––– Shawn Shawn Shawn Shawn LacinaLacinaLacinaLacina, Contracting Officer, Contracting Officer, Contracting Officer, Contracting Officer

Lake States Acquisition Team (LSAT) 

500 Hansen Lake Road

Rhinelander, WI 54501 

(715) 362-1347   slacina@fs.fed.us

128th Air Refueling Wing (WIANG) 128th Air Refueling Wing (WIANG) 128th Air Refueling Wing (WIANG) 128th Air Refueling Wing (WIANG) –––– Dionne Holloway, Contract Specialist Dionne Holloway, Contract Specialist Dionne Holloway, Contract Specialist Dionne Holloway, Contract Specialist 

1919 E. Grange Avenue 

Milwaukee, WI 53207 

(414) 944-8517  dionne.f.holloway.mil@mail.mil

U.SU.SU.SU.S. Veterans Affairs . Veterans Affairs . Veterans Affairs . Veterans Affairs –––– Steve Maier, Small Business Liaison Steve Maier, Small Business Liaison Steve Maier, Small Business Liaison Steve Maier, Small Business Liaison 

Great Lakes Acquisition Center (GLAC) 

112th South 84th St. Suite 101 

Milwaukee, WI 53214

(414) 844-4824  steven.maier2@va.gov

Environmental Protection Agency Environmental Protection Agency Environmental Protection Agency Environmental Protection Agency ---- Adrianne Callahan Adrianne Callahan Adrianne Callahan Adrianne Callahan 

Small and Disadvantaged Business Utilization Coordinator 

USEPA, Region 5 

77 West Jackson Blvd. (MC-10J) 

Chicago, IL 60604 

(312) 353-5556  Callahan.adrianne@epa.gov

VA locations and contacts 

Nationally 

http://www.va.gov/directory/guide/



WISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIESWISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIESWISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIESWISCONSIN AND AREA FEDERAL AGENCIES

Oxford Prison – Bob Pahmeier, Contract Specialist 

Federal Correctional Institution 

P.O. Box 500 

Oxford, WI 53952 

(608) 584-5511  rpahmeier@bop.gov

115th Fighter Wing - SMSgt Katherine Pinnow 

Wisconsin Air National Guard 

3110 Mitchell Street 

Madison, WI 53704 

(608) 245-4528   Katherine.pinnow@ang.af.mil

Volk Field Combat Training Readiness Training Center  -

TSgt Seth Swieter 

100 Independence Drive 

Camp Douglas, WI 54618-5001 

(608) 427-1235  seth.swieter@ang.af.mil

Fort McCoy Contracting Division  - Tony Steinhoff, Small 

Business Specialist 

Mission & Installation Contracting Command

60 South O Street 

Fort McCoy, WI 54656 

(608) 388-7351 phone  tony.r.steinhoff.civ@mail.mil

Contact WPI for contacts 

with other agencies at 

specific locations such as:

• US Army Corps of 

Engineer

• National Park Service

• General Services 

Administration

• OthersCC.

LAST WORDS OF ADVICELAST WORDS OF ADVICELAST WORDS OF ADVICELAST WORDS OF ADVICE
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•NETWORKNETWORKNETWORKNETWORK

•DEVELOP RELATIONSHIPSDEVELOP RELATIONSHIPSDEVELOP RELATIONSHIPSDEVELOP RELATIONSHIPS



UPCOMING EVENTS and 

TRAININGS
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www.wispro.org
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http://MARKETPLACEWISCONSIN.com

Contact information

Carol Murphy, Business Development Specialist 

Wisconsin Procurement Institute (WPI)

A Procurement Technical Assistance Center

10437 Innovation Drive, Suite 320, Milwaukee WI 53226

Office: 414-270-3600 Mobile: 414-828-8081

Fax: 414-270-3610

carolm@wispro.org www.wispro.org
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